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PREFACE TO THE 2012 EDITION


As most writers of military history will readily acknowledge, research rarely ever ends. In my experience, publication usually serves as a stimulus for discovering new sources of information and opening up new lines of enquiry. Of course, it can be also be a frustration, even an irritation, to suddenly find a vital clue to unlocking some hidden detail or to unearthing a previously unseen record within months of your book hitting the shelves. But that’s the way it usually is, and certainly was so far as Passchendaele 1917 was concerned.


It’s hardly surprising. Since it first appeared in 1998, there has been a technological revolution so far as historical research is concerned. At the heart of it is, of course, the internet. Its reach has become enormous and the opportunities for tracking down ‘lost’ families or undiscovered sources have multiplied a thousand-fold, and more.


Coupled with the rapid advances in technology has been the release of important documents by official archives. The opening up of many of those service records to have survived the damaging results of a Second World War has been a boon to researchers. Though frequently disappointing, every so often they yield unimagined treasure troves. Meanwhile, in Australia and Canada, a benevolent approach to the custodianship of public records has made accessible much new material and rendered long-distance research a joy rather than a chore.


But, as ever, the most memorable sources of fresh information about the Victoria Cross recipients of the 1917 Ypres campaign have been the relatives who have generously opened their private archives to furnish me with anecdotes and letters, diaries and photographs, which add fresh layers of knowledge and interest to the biographical portraits of their brave ancestors.


In particular, I must thank Ian Robertson for allowing me access to papers and photographs relating to his great uncle, Clement Robertson, the Tank Corps’ first VC; Pam Colvin, daughter of William Hewitt, for her photographs and personal recollections; Anne Walsh for biographical information and photographs relating to her grandfather, Alfred Knight; Hazel Greaves for a wealth of material and memories about her father, Fred Greaves; and, lastly, Charles and John Moore, son and grandson respectively of ‘Monty’ Moore, for their generous assistance and candour in discussing one of the campaign’s more colourful heroes. They alone have made the hours of work spent writing this revised and expanded edition worthwhile.


I am grateful, yet again, to the ever-supportive team at The History Press, Jo de Vries, senior commissioning editor, and Paul Baillie-Lane, military history editor; to Gerald Gliddon, my chief collaborator in the VCs of the First World War series; to Dick Rayner, my knowledgeable and most generous-spirited of fellow researchers; and to Brian Best, founder of the Victoria Cross Society, whose regular journals continue to inform and inspire. Most of all, though, I have my wife, Sandra, to thank not just for her unswerving support and myriad sacrifices but for miraculously managing to never quite tire of a husband with a strange obsession that continues to defy rational comprehension.




INTRODUCTION


The sufferings, privations and exertions which the soldiers had to bear were inexpressible. Terrible was the spiritual burden on the lonely man in the shell hole, and terrible the strain on the nerves during the bombardment which continued day and night. The ‘Hell of Verdun’ was exceeded by Flanders. The Battle of Flanders has been called ‘The greatest martyrdom of the First World War’ … Looking back it seems that what was borne here was superhuman …





These words were written about the German experience of Passchendaele by General Hermann von Kuhl, historian and former Chief of the German General Staff; they might, with minor adjustments, be said to apply equally to the ordeal endured by the thousands of British and Commonwealth soldiers who struggled in vain to achieve Field Marshal Sir Douglas Haig’s much-vaunted breakthrough. The misery was universal. Eighty years on, Passchendaele, the soldiers’ name for the Third Battle of Ypres, remains synonymous with desolation and despair, a potent symbol of the folly and futility of war. Haunting images of men toiling through a sea of mud have, rightly or wrongly, come to define the popular conception of the conflict that raged across the fields of Belgium and France between 1914 and 1918. Never before and, mercifully, never since have British soldiers been forced to endure such prolonged horrors.


It is, however, one of the great ironies that the campaign which has come to most represent the war’s attritional stagnation was originally intended to break the deadlock. The Ypres offensive, launched in the summer of 1917, was designed not merely to drive the Germans off the commanding heights from where they had dominated the salient for more than two years, but to bring about a great strategic victory. With the help of an amphibious landing and a strike along the coast, Haig aimed to sweep the Kaiser’s army of occupation clean out of Belgium, thus removing the U-boat menace from the Channel ports. It was a grand, over-ambitious plan destined to be fatally undermined by the weather and the tenacity of the German defenders.


Passchendaele followed General Sir Herbert Plumer’s successful operations to secure the Messines Ridge. It was a tragedy in eight parts, eight distinct battles fought in varying conditions with varying degrees of success: Pilckem Ridge (31 July–2 August), Langemarck (16–18 August), Menin Road (20–25 September), Polygon Wood (26 September–3 October), Broodseinde (4 October), Poelcappelle (9 October), First Passchendaele (12 October) and Second Passchendaele (26 October–10 November).


Such neat delineation, however, was not always apparent to the fighting men. To them, Passchendaele was one long struggle amid squalid conditions which frequently beggared belief. In circumstances such as these, merely to have endured was a form of heroism hard enough to comprehend. Yet there were men whose courage conquered all; men who overcame cold, drenching rain, fear and weariness to win the nation’s supreme award for valour.


This book sets out to tell the story of the sixty-one men awarded the Victoria Cross for feats of outstanding gallantry performed during the Passchendaele campaign. In keeping with the democratic traditions of this most coveted decoration, there were no distinctions of class or rank among the recipients. They ranged from humble private to brigadier-general and included men from big city slums as well as sons of the landed gentry. They ranged also in age, from 19-year-old Thomas Holmes, a Canadian private from Owen Sound, Ontario, to 47-year-old Clifford Coffin, the first brigadier-general to win the VC.


Not all, however, were model soldiers. Cecil Kinross was probably one of the scruffiest and most unruly individuals ever to don a uniform, yet it did not stop him being one of Canada’s finest fighting soldiers. Thomas Whitham was serving a sentence for ‘disobeying a lawful command’ when he won his award. Nor were all recipients necessarily much loved or admired: Bertram Best-Dunkley, the 26-year-old commanding officer of the 2/5th Lancashire Fusiliers, was roundly hated by virtually every officer in his unit. Every member of this elite band of men was linked by a common thread of valour.


Their acts of courage reflected the nature of the fighting. All but a handful of the VCs were won for ‘offensive’ acts. More than two-thirds were connected with daring assaults on enemy machine-gun posts, most of them pillboxes and fortified farms, upon which so much of the German defensive system was based and which gave the campaign its unique character. In contrast, only seven awards directly involved the saving of lives. Two of these went to medical officers and another two to men who smothered live grenades with their own bodies. Strangely, while the two former were posthumous awards, the latter pair both miraculously survived.


Although the overwhelming majority of the VCs were won by British troops, the Commonwealth nations were also represented. Nine went to Canadians (including one serving in a British county regiment), seven to Australians and one each to a New Zealander and a South African. Closer scrutiny of the awards shows that eighteen were won by officers, twenty-nine by non-commissioned officers (or acting NCOs) and fourteen by privates. Of these, none appears to have been won by conscripts. A breakdown of the recipients’ recruitment details reveals that forty-seven were volunteers, many of whom had answered Kitchener’s call to arms, five had been serving in the Territorial Forces at the outbreak of war and nine were professional soldiers (including one officer, Thomas Colyer-Fergusson, who was given a permanent commission during the war and two officers, Denis Hewitt and Montague Moore, straight from Sandhurst). Roughly a quarter (fifteen) of the awards were made posthumously while another five recipients did not survive the war. Others, such as Arnold Loosemore and Frederick Room, never fully recovered from the conflict, their short lives reduced to a grim struggle against ill-health.


The campaign provided its share of VC records: 31 July 1917 yielded the highest number of Crosses won on a single day in the course of the war – fourteen awards. This figure can be compared with the twelve won on the first day of the Gallipoli landings, nine in the opening 24 hours of the Somme offensive and the same number on the first day of Ludendorff’s 1918 Spring Offensive. The Passchendaele awards also included the war’s only double VC winner (Noel Chavasse), the first Welsh Guards’ VC (Robert Bye), the first VC in the fledgling Tank Corps (Clement Robertson) and the youngest New Zealander to win the Cross (Leslie Andrew).


For those who lived long enough, winning the Victoria Cross brought with it a measure of fame. Some went on to achieve great things. Major George Pearkes, the former Mountie who had enlisted as a trooper in a Canadian cavalry unit, rose to become a general, a Cabinet minister and finally Lieutenant-Governor of British Columbia. John Dwyer, who won his Cross as a sergeant in the Australian Machine-Gun Corps, held high office in the government of Tasmania. But for many, the instant fame which followed the announcement of their awards was short-lived and they quickly slipped back into the obscurity whence they came. Far from returning to a ‘land fit for heroes’, all too many came home to the dole queue and a life of struggle. Yet each of these men deserves to be remembered. For in a campaign dominated by artillery, mud and formidable fixed defences, theirs was, indeed, the highest form of valour.




L.W. ANDREW


La Basse Ville, 31 July 1917
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A light rain was falling as the New Zealanders trudged eastwards along one of countless trails criss-crossing Ploegsteert Wood. Once renowned as a shooting reserve for Belgium’s ruling classes, by the fourth summer of the war the sprawling Flanders forest had become simply another haunted landmark, a staging post on the way from the catacombed shelters of Hill 63 to the front line.


Night masked the worst disfigurements as 8 officers and 328 men of the 2nd Wellington Regiment filed through in the early hours of 31 July 1917. Their trek took them past the ruins of St Yves, along the duckboards of St Yves Avenue towards their assembly points at Le Truie Sap and Cabaret Road. By 3 am, they were in position. Zero hour was 50 minutes away and the Kiwis steeled themselves for the attack. They represented the extreme right wing of Haig’s grand offensive, designed not merely to eject the enemy from the ridges overlooking Ypres, but to free the Channel ports and, ultimately, to drive the Germans back across the Belgian border. In the tragic drama about to unfold, the 2nd Wellingtons were to play a supporting role, though one not without its hazards. Their task was to capture the village of La Basse Ville, a place they had captured and lost four days previously, in order to help draw enemy reserves away from the main thrust to the north.


The small hamlet of La Basse Ville, built beside a loop in the River Lys, formed part of a screen of outposts barring the way to the Warneton Line, west of the Ypres–Comines Canal. Much of the ground was wired and studded with machine-guns, but the most potent defensive position was housed in the Estaminet, an undistinguished two-storey building standing in splendid isolation at the northern end of the village, alongside the Warneton road. A machine-gun post sited in its upper floor was credited with having turned the tide against the New Zealanders in their first attempt to capture the hamlet.


For the second assault, therefore, not only was a larger force to be employed but special attention was to be paid to the capture of this strongpoint. The task was given to two sections of the Wellington-West Coast Company, 2nd Wellingtons, commanded by Corporal Les Andrew, a 20-year-old railway clerk from Wanganui. The orders for the fifteen-strong party were to follow close behind the barrage, avoiding trouble if possible, and knock out the machine-gun post in a ‘commando-style’ operation.


The attack went in at 3.50 am, the rising sun blotted out by mist and low cloud. Supported by machine-gun fire and a rapid mortar bombardment, the Ruahine Company dashed across the low-lying flats towards the Armentières–Warneton railway which cut between the lines. Almost immediately, they hit trouble. A machine-gun, hidden in a fence, tore gaps in the leading section of No. 15 Platoon, bringing the advance to a halt. As the survivors took cover in shell-holes, the platoon commander, Lt H.R. Biss, moved forward but before he could devise a plan for overcoming the obstacle, the issue was settled by Cpl Andrew.


Spotting the danger, Andrew diverted his party along the railway and charged it from the flank, killing a number of the enemy and capturing the gun. According to war correspondent Malcolm Ross, Andrew lost eleven men wounded in wiping out the entire gun team. Strangely, however, neither the unit diarist nor the official New Zealand historian mention any casualties suffered by Andrew’s party. Colonel H. Stewart credits Andrew entirely with the success, while the history of the Wellington Regiment offers contradictory versions. One states that the approach of Andrew’s party caused the Germans to waver, allowing Lt Biss to capture two machine-guns, while the other version refers to only one gun being seized by the two sections of the Wellington-West Coast Company led by Andrew.


All, however, agree that the gallant corporal’s handling of the situation prevented a critical delay. The danger removed, Andrew and his depleted party sprinted after the barrage. While heavy fighting continued in a system of outposts known as the Hedgerows, the main force fought their way into La Basse Ville. There, as expected, the Estaminet proved one of the biggest obstacles. Machine-gunners fired continuously as Andrew’s group closed in. Ross recorded:





To attempt to attack the post from the front clearly meant that he and his little remaining band [sic] would be wiped out altogether … Coolly sizing up the situation, he led his little party round for a quarter of a mile on their stomachs through some thistles and attacked the German position from the rear. As soon as they got close enough the intrepid quartet threw bombs at the crew and rushed, killed four of the enemy and put the rest to flight, and captured the gun and the position.





According to Ross, all four members of the attacking party suffered slight wounds while their equipment showed signs of numerous near misses. Andrew was grazed by a bullet wound in the back and had his rifle smashed in his hand.


After a struggle lasting about half an hour, La Basse Ville was once again in New Zealand hands. As the garrison’s survivors fled, preparations were made to meet the inevitable German counter-attack. Andrew, however, had not quite finished his day’s work. Taking advantage of the confusion and the garrison’s precipitate retreat, he ordered two of his men to carry the captured machine-gun back while he and Pte Laurie Ritchie set off in pursuit. Andrew’s intentions were apparently to reconnoitre towards Warneton but they had not gone far when they encountered another enemy outpost. Stewart recorded:





300 yards along the road, on the very threshold of the village, was a wayside inn, In Der Rooster Cabaret, and in its cellars some of the hunted Germans sought refuge. A machine-gun post was in an open trench beside it. The post was rushed, the cellars and adjoining dugouts were thoroughly bombed, and only then did the 2 men turn their faces towards our line.





Precise details of how many Germans had been accounted for by Andrew’s various attacks are unclear. Years later, he put his personal tally at eight killed, six of them with the bayonet. Ross also credited Andrew and Ritchie (who was later awarded the Distinguished Conduct Medal) with bringing back ‘most valuable information’ about the German dispositions. They may even have supplied the earliest warning of the first enemy counter-attack around 5 am: enemy soldiers were observed forming up at the In Der Rooster and were effectively smashed by artillery fire.


The battle for La Basse Ville raged throughout the day and this time the New Zealanders held on at a cost to the 2nd Wellingtons of 134 casualties – roughly 40 per cent of the attacking force – including thirty-seven men killed. Despite all their efforts, there is no evidence of the action diverting any significant enemy reserves from the main front. However, the considerable courage displayed did not go unnoticed. According to Major William Cunningham, the Wellingtons’ commanding officer, ‘GHQ attached a great deal of importance to the … operation and as it was quite successful they were very liberal in the matter of awards’. In a letter written on 18 August, he added:





So far we have received 14 Military Medals, 1 bar to Military Medal, 3 DCMs and 4 Military Crosses, and there is still a chance for a VC. Young Andrew who used to be in Charlie Mackay’s office is the man recommended. He was in charge of a couple of sections in the attack and captured two machine guns and brought them both in, killing a good many of the Bosch [sic] crews and putting the others to flight. His work was very fine and he displayed great gallantry and splendid leadership. If he gets it, it will be a great thing for the Battalion and I am particularly pleased that it will be a Wanganui boy to earn the coveted distinction.





Major Cunningham’s hope was fulfilled on 6 September when the London Gazette announced the award of a Victoria Cross to No. 11795 Cpl Leslie Andrew.
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Leslie Wilton Andrew, the youngest New Zealander to win the VC in the First World War, was born on 23 March 1897 at Ashhurst, Palmerston North, on the North Island. He was the eldest son of William Jeffrey Andrew, headmaster of the Wanganui East primary school, and his wife Frances Hannah. He was educated at Ashhurst primary school, Wanganui East District High School and Wanganui Collegiate, a prestigious private school for boys.


On leaving school in 1913, he worked in a solicitor’s office before joining the New Zealand Railways Department as a head office clerk. He served in the Avenue School Cadets, a unit in which his father was a company commander, and the local Territorial force. He is said to have lied about his age in order to serve overseas, enlisting in the NZ Expeditionary Force on 26 October 1915. He embarked for Egypt with the 12th Reinforcements on 1 May 1916 as a 19-year-old sergeant credited with being the best shot in his company and having already passed exams for a commission.


Although he reverted to private in order to be posted to the 2nd Wellington Regiment, Andrew’s maturity was clearly marked. Sailing for England in July 1916, he joined his unit in France the following month. During his fighting career on the Western Front he was wounded twice – the first time on the Somme in September 1916 – and survived being buried by shells on three occasions. Made corporal on 12 January 1917, Andrew took part in the Messines operations in June. The day after his exploits at La Basse Ville he was promoted sergeant and shortly afterwards sent for officer training while one of the machine-guns he captured was sent back as a trophy to New Zealand (now housed in the Wanganui Regional Museum). Commissioned second lieutenant on 1 March 1918, he remained in England until August the following year. During this time, he met Bessie Mead Ball, of Brinsley, Nottingham, whom he married 24 hours after Armistice Day.


Andrew made the Army his career. After leading a Victory Day contingent through London, he returned to New Zealand in the summer of 1919 as a lieutenant in his country’s small permanent military forces. A captain by the age of 27, he held various staff appointments before being posted for two years, on an officer exchange scheme, to a battalion of the Highland Light Infantry in India. Back in New Zealand, he served as adjutant of the 1st Wellington Regiment. In 1937, still a captain in the Staff Corps, he led a fifty-strong New Zealand contingent, including two other VC holders, to England for the coronation of King George VI, and commanded the Kiwi party which mounted guard on Buckingham Palace on 11 May 1937.


By the outbreak of the Second World War he was a major and on 29 January 1940 he joined the 2nd New Zealand Expeditionary Force as a lieutenant-colonel, commanding the newly formed 22nd Wellington Battalion. He was then aged 42 and had a reputation as a tough taskmaster. Keith Elliott, one of the volunteer soldiers who would go on to win a Victoria Cross in North Africa, wrote of his CO:





Some thought him to be too much of a disciplinarian, but he’d been schooled through the hardest experiences of life and knew that if we were to be properly prepared for our task, any weaknesses would have to be hammered out through rigorous training and self-discipline.





An upright man, Andrew was intolerant of slackness and inefficiency. Once described as a ‘walking encylopaedia on all matters military’, the same writer described him as a ‘natural leader’: ‘Perhaps his greatest characteristic is that he demands the best, that things be done in the right way. But he will always give first the help and then the reason for his demand and indicate how it later affects battle performance.’


On taking command of the 22nd Wellington Battalion, he urged his men to be ‘second to none in whatever we achieve or undertake to do’, and his words were adopted as the unit’s unofficial motto. Under his leadership, the battalion served in Britain (where it helped to guard the Kent coast during the invasion scare of 1940), Greece, Crete and North Africa. He proved a resourceful and courageous commander, as evidenced during the British Crusader offensive fought in the Libyan desert in late 1941. For fourteen difficult days, he commanded the remnants of the 5th New Zealand Brigade, defeating a series of enemy attacks, after the headquarters staff had been overrun and captured. His gallant stand at Menastir was later recognised by the award of a DSO. But that success was overshadowed by controversy surrounding his actions during the Crete débâcle seven months earlier. At the height of the German airborne assault on 20 May 1941, Andrew had withdrawn his hard-pressed battalion from a vital hill feature overlooking the strategically important airfield at Maleme upon which the fate of the defence hinged. There were mitigating circumstances. Such was the ferocity of the air and ground attack on his battalion, he later insisted that ‘the Somme, Messines and Passchendaele were mere picnics’ by comparison. Having held out for the best part of a day without relief, Andrew felt he had no option but to withdraw his depleted command or risk being overrun. The Germans seized the airfield and, in a matter of days, Crete fell.


Andrew accepted responsibility for his actions, but the real fault at Maleme had lain with those senior officers in the 5th NZ Brigade who had denied support to the 22nd until it was too late. Significantly, the island’s commander, Major-General Bernard Freyberg, another New Zealand-born VC of the First World War, never blamed him. When Andrew was ordered home in February 1942 to command the Fortress Area, Wellington, Freyberg thanked him for his fine work and concluded: ‘I need hardly add that I should be delighted to take you back in the Division at any time should the CGS be able to let you go.’


Andrew never again held an operational command. Promoted colonel, he ceased service with the Expeditionary Force in October 1943, resuming service in the regular army. At the end of the war, Colonel Andrew returned to Britain in command of the New Zealand contingent for the 1946 victory parade. That same year he was appointed ADC to the Governor-General of New Zealand, Sir Cyril Newell.


Les Andrew soldiered on into the peace, attending the Imperial Defence College in London before being promoted brigadier in 1948. By then, it was his proud boast that he had held every rank from private to brigadier, bar that of quartermaster-sergeant. He remained in command of the Central Military District until his retirement in 1952. The last seventeen years of his life were spent peacefully with his wife Bess and their family. They had five children, three boys, one of whom died in infancy, and two daughters. His son, Don Andrew, recalled: ‘He was a strict disciplinarian with himself as well as others, but still modest. I remember him cooking breakfast for us children before we went to school, and doing the laundry at the weekends … He was very much a family man.’ After retiring from the Army, Andrew was courted by politicians and invited to stand for the national parliament but he rebuffed all approaches. Don recalled: ‘He said that it wouldn’t fit in with his honesty, although what he said was more direct.’


After a short illness Les Andrew died at Palmerston North Hospital on 8 January 1969, and was buried with military honours in the Returned Services Lawn cemetery, Levin. Veterans of the 22nd Battalion acted as pallbearers and three of the country’s nine surviving VC holders attended. The Revd Keith Elliott VC, who had served with him in North Africa, read one of the lessons.


Almost forty years later, Les Andrew’s valour was headline news again, albeit in unhappy circumstances. On 2 December 2007 it was reported that his Victoria Cross group was one of nine VCs among ninety-six medals stolen from the Queen Elizabeth II Army Memorial Museum at Waiouru, where it was on display. The heist sparked international revulsion and a nationwide hunt for the thieves. Following the offer of a NZ$300,000 reward by VC collector Lord Ashcroft and Nelson businessman Tom Sturgess the New Zealand Police announced on 16 February 2008 that all the medals had been recovered.




T.R. COLYER-FERGUSSON AND C. COFFIN


Bellewaarde Ridge and Westhoek Ridge, 31 July and 16 August 1917


The night of 30/31 July was dark and cloudy with the threat of rain as the men of the 2nd Northamptonshires shuffled towards their assembly positions in front of Bellewaarde Ridge. B Company was last to arrive, led by the boyish-looking Old Harrovian ‘Riv’ Colyer-Fergusson, a veteran at 21. Two of his platoons formed part of the battalion’s third wave in the coming attack, the remainder being employed as mopping-up teams. The Northants had been allotted stretches of the Kingsway and Kingsway Support trenches, but shortly after midnight Colyer-Fergusson, anxious to avoid any retaliatory bombardment, moved his men, together with a supporting section of machine-gunners, 100yd forward.
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A/Capt. T.R. Colyer-Fergusson


By 2 am they were in position. The night was quiet, with little shelling or rifle fire. ‘We lay there quite happily to wait for the off,’ observed 2/Lt Leslie Walkinton, the young officer in command of the machine-gunners of the 24th Machine-Gun Company. ‘One of the men handed round humbugs which he had just received from home.’ That morning the men of II Corps, of which the 2nd Northants were part, faced the most important task to be undertaken by General Sir Hubert Gough’s Fifth Army. Operating south of the Ypres–Roulers railway, three divisions, the 8th, 30th and 24th, were to capture the entire Gheluvelt plateau, the most heavily defended enemy sector along the Ypres front. Three main defence zones and no fewer than seven lines of fortifications ran across the high ground. Once freckled with woods, the plateau had become a ‘wilderness of fallen trees’ masking a lethal network of pillboxes and machine-gun nests that had survived intact the British bombardment. The Northants were the left-hand battalion of the 24th Brigade, and their task was to capture Bellewaarde Ridge, one of the enemy’s key observation posts. They had spent days rehearsing the attack through fields of standing corn near Bomy. Now it was the real thing.
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A/Brig. Gen. C. Coffin


At 3.50 am the barrage came down with a ‘tremendous roar’ and the battalion advanced under its cover. Perfect order prevailed, the battalion keeping its formations just as if they were still in the practice trenches back at Bomy. 2/Lt Hubert Essame, the acting adjutant, recorded:





The blast was so deafening that we jammed our fingers in our ears; the ground shook. We could see the flashes of the barrage in the murk ahead … The swish of the 18 pdr shells tempted us to crouch down. In fact, although we could not see them, the two leading companies advancing on compass bearings were clinging to the barrage and moving forward each time it jumped a further 25yds …





A and D Companies led the advance, followed by Colyer-Fergusson’s B Company ready to push on to the battalion’s main objective on the ridge. Little remained of the enemy wire or their forward trenches. According to the Northants’ war diarist, the defenders were ‘too dazed to put up a fight’. As the leading waves occupied Ignis Trench and Ignorance Support, mopping-up parties netted sixty prisoners from the craters around Hooge and scattered outposts along the Menin road. B and C Companies, meanwhile, skirted Bellewaarde Lake and a line of smouldering dugouts treated to a barrage of Thermite (incendiary mortar bombs). 2/Lt Essame, who had moved forward with Lt-Col C.G. Buckle dso, mc, the 2nd Northants’ 26-year-old CO, saw them ‘ploughing through the mud’ on their way towards the crest of Bellewaarde Ridge.


Forming up for the final approach, however, proved difficult. Colyer-Fergusson realised his company was in danger of losing the barrage. Ahead lay Jacob Trench, covered by a machine-gun in a wired strongpoint missed by the bombardment. Knowing a delay could prove disastrous, Colyer-Fergusson collected ten men, including Sgt W.G. Boulding and his orderly Pte B. Ellis, and dashed forward under cover of the shelling. Just as they gained a footing in the enemy position, a German company was spotted advancing en masse barely 100yd away. The regimental historian recorded:





Captain Colyer-Fergusson and his picked men knocked out 20 or 30 of them with rifle fire, and the remainder put up their hands. The men of his company were beginning to come up, when the German machine-gun came into action. Leaving his company to hold the trench, and assisted by his orderly alone, Captain Colyer-Fergusson attacked and captured the gun. He then turned it on to another group of the enemy, killing a large number of them and driving the remainder into the hands of another British unit. Later, assisted only by Sgt Boulding and Pte Ellis (both later awarded DCMs), he attacked and captured a second machine-gun …





At around 5.30 am, when the young company commander reported to his CO, consolidation was under way. Buckle, who had signalled the ridge’s capture to a patrolling scout plane, ordered B and C Companies to push on 100–200yd to establish a line of outposts, and it was while directing this operation, shortly afterwards, that ‘Riv’ Colyer-Fergusson was hit in the head by a sniper’s bullet, dying instantly. It was a tragic blow. No one had done more to ensure the success of the operation. As the unit war diarist recorded: ‘He had done magnificently. The capture of Jacob Trench was largely due to his courage and initiative.’


While the Northants dug in, fresh battalions drove on to the 24th Brigade’s final objective on the forward slopes of Westhoek ridge. But it quickly became apparent that these positions were untenable. The attack of the neighbouring 30th Division had stalled, leaving the right flank open and the men of the 24th and 23rd Brigades were vulnerable to enfilading fire from the direction of Nonne Boschen and Glencourse Woods. It was a grim augury.


Further back, near Jacob Trench, 2/Lt Essame saw a ‘mass of troops’ coming up from Hellfire Corner. These were units of the 25th Brigade, who had the task of carrying the advance from Westhoek ridge to a line beyond the Hanebeek, within 2 miles of Passchendaele. Their commander was Brig.-Gen. Clifford Coffin dso, a 37-year-old Royal Engineers officer who had been promoted to command the brigade in March. Coffin was the antithesis of the popular and much-misrepresented image of the First World War general. When news reached him that Westhoek ridge had fallen, Coffin immediately set off to reconnoitre the ground with an advance party. He found not only his right flank wide open, with heavy fire coming from Glencourse Wood, but the enemy still occupying Westhoek crossroads and neighbouring houses. A message was sent back to Divisional HQ stating that more time was needed to clear up the situation and that ‘a fresh attack would have to be planned behind a new barrage’. Then, with Brigade HQ set up in Jaffa Avenue, Coffin made his way back to 23rd Brigade HQ at Ziel House to get a clearer picture. The 25th Brigade war diary states:





It was reported that only a few snipers and one or two machine-guns were holding out and that it was hoped to be able to deal with these before the next advance began. As it was doubtful whether the message asking for a postponement would get through in time, it was decided to carry out the attack as originally laid down …





Coffin had grave misgivings but he realised that a delay could prove yet more disastrous. However, the gamble did not come off. Although he directed a company to protect the right flank, it was not enough.


The attack went in at 10.10 am. At first the three assault battalions appeared to be ‘going strong’. On the left, parties of the 2nd Rifle Brigade broke through to Hanebeek Wood, but in the centre and on the right the 1st Royal Irish Rifles and 2nd Lincolnshires were decimated by enfilade and reverse fire from Glencourse and Nonne Boschen Woods. Only one company reached the Hanebeek, a few men actually crossing it, but they were too few and were soon in retreat. By midday the shattered remains of the three battalions were back on Westhoek ridge, manning a ragged line cut along the reverse slopes with Lewis gunners guarding the crest.


Enemy reaction was not slow in coming. Large numbers of troops were seen arriving in lorries, and far from striking out beyond the Hanebeek the question now was whether the badly shaken units of the 25th Brigade could hold Westhoek ridge. Failure to do so would undoubtedly have jeopardised gains to the north and might even have proved fatal to the operation as a whole. Aware of the desperate state of affairs, Coffin set out to tour his command. The divisional historian wrote:





He went about from shell-hole to shell-hole, organising the defence … and urging on his troops to new and willing efforts. Walking about in the open, with supreme disregard of the fact that he was at all times under fire, he seemed to bear a charmed life. His control was everywhere and his spirit irresistible. During the afternoon he himself carried up ammunition to the front line. No spot was too exposed for him to visit, no task too laborious for him to share …


The ridge was under more or less continuous fire from the right and around midday began the counter-attacks which continued into the late afternoon. Around 2.30 pm, the Lincolnshires were forced to give ground, which was swiftly recaptured. Shortly afterwards, Coffin received orders to hold the line ‘at all costs’. Heading towards the left flank, he found the 2nd Rifle Brigade ‘very exposed’. Calling for help from 23rd Brigade, he managed to seal a potentially dangerous gap.





Enemy troops continued to threaten, massing within 200yd of the ridge, inside the protective barrage called down by Coffin. ‘There is no doubt that a strong attack would have materialised,’ he wrote, ‘but for the tenacity with which our men held their ground …’ Their ordeal continued until reliefs arrived around 9 pm. Two days later, Coffin appended a personal note to his official report of the ill-starred operation:





On arrival behind the Westhoek ridge the situation which met the Brigade was not quite the one which had been anticipated, but all ranks acted up to the changed conditions. The line reached was held against numerous enemy counter-attacks and was handed over intact upon relief. These enemy attacks were taken full advantage of by the Brigade and the enemy’s casualties must have been very heavy.





The remnants of the 25th Brigade had little time to recover from their ordeal. On 12–13 August they returned to the line of shell-holes they had fought desperately to hold to lead a renewed attack towards the Hanebeek. A deluge of rain had turned the battlefield into a quagmire. 2/Lt Essame, of the 2nd Northants attached to Coffin’s brigade, wrote: ‘Conditions had been bad when we left; they were even worse now. All the holes were full to the brim with water. Everywhere it was hard going through the mud. In some places duckboard tracks sank out of sight almost as soon as they were laid.’


Glencourse and Nonne Boschen Woods remained in enemy hands, and it was clear that if the 56th Division on the right failed to capture them, a repetition of the near catastrophic reverse on 31 July was certain. Tragically, that was what transpired.


At 4.45 am on 16 August, 25th Brigade, comprising the 2nd Royal Berkshires, 1st Royal Irish Rifles and 2nd Lincolnshires, made swift inroads. Troops crossed the swollen Hanebeek, penetrated Hanebeek Wood and captured a number of redoubts. Some units even approached close to Zonnebeke. But it was to no avail. The 56th Division failed where 30th Division had failed before them, with appalling consequences for the 8th Division.


By 8 am a counter-attack was in full swing. Anzac redoubt was retaken by the Germans and a thrust from the south threatened to cut off the greater part of 8th Division. Coffin’s brigade was most immediately affected. The Berkshires, fighting desperately, were almost overwhelmed. The CO of the embattled 1st Royal Irish Rifles stumbled wounded and exhausted into Brigade HQ to report that his men were retreating.


Shortly after 9 am Coffin set out to find the Berkshires, arriving just as a powerful counter-attack broke around them. It was pandemonium. The line on the right had broken and men were streaming back in disorder. Coffin took charge, stopped the retirement by dint of personal example and succeeded temporarily in checking the enemy advance. Then, returning to his HQ, he ordered his reserves forward.


The first of two companies of the 2nd Northants arrived on Westhoek ridge at about 11 am. By then, the brigade strength was estimated at about 500 men. Coffin’s brigade was being shot to pieces. Around 3.45 pm an enemy attack pressed his depleted units back to the foot of the ridge. It was 31 July all over again. The divisional historian recorded: ‘So menacing … did the situation become that General Coffin, whose energy, resource and daring had once more become the soul of the defence, decided to put Brigade Headquarters personnel into the line.’ Having averted one crisis, Coffin then led the Northants in a counter-attack that succeeded in restoring the position on the forward slopes. Shortly afterwards, the remainder of the Northants arrived to reinforce his hard-pressed command.


It was a hellish scene on the ridge. 2/Lt Essame wrote:





… we found Coffin standing upright in the open. He welcomed us with a smile: ‘Those two companies of yours are a fine lot. They got here just in time.’ We then discovered that he had led the counter-attack with them and halted the Germans about 150yd ahead. He … then took the rest of the battalion forward and patched up some sort of line with Royal Berkshire survivors and filled the gap between the right flank and what was left of 167th Brigade [56th Division]. Neither Coffin nor Latham [CO of the Northants] for that matter showed the slightest inclination to take cover or indeed of being in any way perturbed.





A final counter-attack was destroyed by a combination of artillery and massed machine-guns, so that by 5 pm an eerie quiet settled across the battlefield. Essame observed:





It seemed that both sides had had enough for the time being. The sun made a fitful appearance. Three of Coffin’s battalions had lost half their strength – the Royal Irish Rifles had only one officer and 60 men left. They were still, however, a disciplined body prepared to fight on. So long as Coffin remained with them they would have gone on to the last man.





The attack had become a fiasco, but an even greater catastrophe had been averted. Twice in the space of a fortnight, Coffin’s personal intervention had prevented routs. It was an extraordinary display of resolute and inspirational leadership justly crowned by the first award of a Victoria Cross to an officer of general rank. Strangely, his citation, published on 14 September, made no mention of his performance on 16 August, but there was no question it had contributed to his award. The 8th Division historian described it as a reward for his ‘consistent gallantry and skill’ in both actions. The official announcement came eight days after the London Gazette reported that the same honour had been posthumously conferred on 2/Lt (Acting Captain) ‘Riv’ Colyer-Fergusson.
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Thomas Riversdale Colyer-Fergusson was born at 13 Lower Berkeley Street, London, on 18 February 1896, the third and youngest son of Thomas Colyer-Fergusson, a former High Sheriff of Kent, and his wife Beatrice (née Muller).


His father was a Kentish squire with homes at Wombwell Hall, Gravesend, and Ightham Mote, and he was a grandson of the Rt Hon. Professor Max Muller, a distinguished oriental scholar, and Sir James Fergusson. He inherited the name Riversdale, with its Irish connections, from his maternal grandmother, a daughter of Riversdale Grenfell. The name Colyer came to the family through Sir James Fergusson’s first wife, Mary Soames, elder daughter of Thomas Colyer of Wombwell Hall.


‘Riv’, as he was known in the family, was taught at Summer Fields, Oxford, and then went on to Harrow in 1909. As a youngster, he developed a passion for country sports. A keen follower of the hounds, he was also an accomplished shot. In the summer of 1914 he was due to take his place at Oriel College, Oxford, but the war intervened. He enlisted in the Public Schools Battalion in September, and the following February was granted a temporary commission in the Northamptonshire Regiment. He went to France in November 1915, and was wounded in action at Contalmaison on the Somme in July 1916. After recovering from his injuries, he returned to his unit in November and the following month was given a permanent commission.


In January 1917, aged 20, he was promoted to acting captain and given command of B Company. The following month, as the Germans pulled back to the Hindenburg Line, he led his men in a dashing attack on the ridge overlooking Bouchavesnes. Sweeping across two lines of enemy trenches, they burst into the third line, captured a machine-gun and bombed a dugout before realising they had advanced beyond their objective. Pulling back, they helped consolidate their newly won position and held it against five counter-attacks. The action cost the Northants almost 250 casualties, but Colyer-Fergusson emerged unscathed with his reputation enhanced.


A contemporary account described the young officer as ‘a fine type of healthy English boyhood’. His high-spirited behaviour and cherubic appearance, however, belied his mature leadership qualities: ‘He was a general favourite and had a peculiarly frank and open manner which gained him the affection of all classes with whom he came in contact. One of his commanding officers speaks of his adroitness in managing the men under him.’ Leslie Walkinton, the machine-gun officer who came to know him shortly before the Ypres offensive, described him as a ‘keen young regular … obviously greatly liked by his men’.


‘Riv’ Colyer-Fergusson was buried in the Menin Road South military cemetery. The inscription on his headstone reads: ‘My son, my son. No reward can be too great’.


Writing of him, Col Buckle, only five years his senior, declared: ‘I think his death was more keenly felt in the Regiment than any other I have known. To my mind, he was the most promising officer under my command. I cannot hope ever to replace him. He was, besides being such a first-rate officer, a thorough sportsman and the cheeriest of companions.’
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Clifford Coffin was born at Blackheath on 10 February 1870, the youngest son of Lt-Gen. Sir Isaac Campbell Coffin KCSI and his wife Catherine Eliza (née Shepherd). He was educated at Haileybury College and the Royal Military Academy, Woolwich, and joined the Army on 17 February 1888, following his brother into the Royal Engineers as a second lieutenant, a week after his 18th birthday.


His first spell of foreign service was with the Submarine Miners in Jamaica, from December 1891 to March 1894. Five months after his return, he married Helen Douglas, elder daughter of Admiral Sir Thomas Sturges Jackson kcvo, and the couple had four children.


After a three-year spell in Ireland as a member of the 1st Fortress Company, Cork Harbour, he was promoted captain on 17 February 1899 and appointed to the Staff College, at Camberley. Employed as assistant to the CRE of the 6th and 10th Divisions, he saw considerable service during the South African War, taking part in the relief of Kimerbley, the operations at Paardeberg and the actions at Poplar Grove, Driefontein and Zillikat’s Nek. In July 1900 Coffin led a composite force made up of men of the 9th and 7th (Field) Companies as part of Sir Ian Hamilton’s column pursuing the Boer leader De Wet. His work was recognised by a Mention in Despatches in November.


After serving as CRE Standerton, he returned to England in 1904 as staff captain in the Intelligence Department of the War Office. Promoted major in 1907, he was given command of 56 Field Company RE at Bulford, only to return to staff duties four years later as a GSO2 in Sierra Leone.


At the outbreak of war, Coffin was appointed CRE of the 21st Division. Promoted temporary lieutenant-colonel on 9 June 1915, his rank was confirmed thirteen days later. During the fighting at Loos and on the Somme, he acquired a fearsome reputation as a taskmaster with an explosive temperament that belied a gentle appearance. His adjutant, Stephen Foot, described him as a ‘sort of mixture of Cromwell, Savonarola, and St George’:





With a quiet voice, a pleasant smile, and a mild manner, Coffin at first sight appeared to a young subaltern as quite a kindly old gentleman.; but when roused he was fiercer than Vesuvius in eruption. The voice took on a rasping tone, the smile vanished, and with heightened colour the colonel would proceed to demolish his victim with a storm of invective that was completely shattering. The medical officer, who lived in the mess, was much less frightened of the Germans than he was of the colonel.





According to Foot, Coffin, a deeply religious man, went nowhere without his Bible and was ‘always ready to pour out his wrath on the sins of extravagance and idleness’. Foot, however, found him far from the ogre many of his divisional colleagues thought him to be. As well as admiring his courage and sangfroid in the heat of battle, he was struck by his humility. By way of example, he recalled:





The day after I joined (him), he wrote out some orders for the Field Companies, and when he had finished he handed them over to me with the remark: ‘Read this and tell me if it is quite clear.’ I was staggered! – a senior lieutenant-colonel asking the opinion of a junior subaltern; it was not at all the kind of thing that I expected.





Coffin enjoyed remarkable good fortune during his front-line service. On one occasion a shell came close enough to him to ‘feel the heat of it as it passed’, yet he escaped with nothing worse than a mud-spattered uniform. Another time, while sitting on the fire-step of a trench during an intense bombardment, he came through unharmed though shells fell all around, in the bays either side of him and on the parapet above his head, and it seemed, to his adjutant, that ‘each moment threatened to be our last’.


His courageous leadership was recognised by the award of a DSO in the 1917 New Year’s Honours List. This was followed, on 11 January, by promotion to temporary brigadier-general. Two months later he was selected to command the 25th Brigade, 8th Division. In the wake of his heroic performance during the opening days of the Ypres offensive, Coffin was conspicuous again for his gallantry during the March retreat of 1918 and the subsequent fighting around Villers-Bretonneux. For a time, command of all the infantry in his division devolved upon him, and his firm handling of the crisis was rewarded with a Bar to his DSO (London Gazette, 26 July 1918):





For conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty during a long period of active operations, when he handled his brigade with great skill, especially when covering the withdrawal of the remainder of the division. On one occasion he commanded for a time the infantry of the division with marked success, and his personal courage and example at all times inspired all ranks with him.





Following stabilisation of the line, Coffin was promoted major-general and on 6 May he was given command of the 36th (Ulster) Division, which he led during the advance to victory. After the Armistice, he commanded a brigade in the Rhine Army of Occupation and in September went to Ireland in charge of the 16th Brigade. In June 1920 Coffin was made commander of British troops in Ceylon, and the following month he was appointed an ADC to King George V.


Clifford Coffin returned to England and retired from the Army with the honorary rank of major-general in November 1924, settling in Forest Row, Sussex. In 1936 he came to public prominence when newspapers reported that a Dutch Bible he had brought back at the end of the Boer War had been returned to its previous owner, who was traced by a name in the fly-leaf. For the most part, however, the retired general busied himself with work for ex-servicemen. Appointed Colonel Commandant of the Royal Engineers from 1936 to 1940, he devoted himself to the British Commonwealth Ex-Service League, serving as chairman of the executive throughout the Second World War. Sir Ernest Hartson cbe, secretary of the league, wrote:





In whatever he did he excelled because he put his whole heart in the job without worrying about himself – on the Staff, in the field and in civil life afterwards it was the same, as the BCEL, the Diocese of Chichester, the Society of St George and many another worthy cause can abundantly testify. Yet he used to look me sternly in the eye and say that most of the harm in the world was caused by people trying to do good! – something which he never stopped doing.





As loyal as he was courageous, Clifford Coffin combined a cool, analytical mind with a taciturn manner. Hartson acknowledged that ‘he could say say less with more effect than anyone I knew’. Maj.-Gen. Clifford Coffin vc, cb, dso and Bar, the most senior ranking VC of the Passchendaele campaign, died at Torquay on 4 February 1959, within a week of his 89th birthday. A memorial service was held for him in the Garrison Church, Chatham, and his many honours and awards, including the French Croix de Guerre and the Belgian Order of the Crown, were presented to the Royal Engineers Museum for display.


The hero of Westhoek ridge was buried in Holy Trinity churchyard, Coleman’s Hatch, Hartfield, in East Sussex, a modest memorial stone bearing the inscription: ‘God be merciful to me a sinner’.




B. BEST-DUNKLEY, T.F. MAYSON AND N.G. CHAVASSE


Near Wieltje, 31 July–2 August 1917


The unexpected difficulties which beset General Coffin’s advance beyond Westhoek Ridge on the first morning were mirrored in the experiences of the 164th Brigade amid the barren expanse of shell-holes forming Pilckem Ridge. As reserve brigade of the 55th Division, their task was to follow through the assault units ranged along the lower slopes and push on almost a mile towards the Gravenstafel Spur, barely 4,000yd from Passchendaele. The initial attack went broadly to plan. After some stiff fighting, a foothold east of the Steenbeek was established from Pommern Redoubt to within 600yd of St Julien. By 9 am mopping-up operations were under way but, as at Westhoek, early reports proved overly optimistic. Not only were key strongpoints within the Black Line holding out, but the barrage made little impact on a cluster of concrete blockhouses, gun emplacements and fortified farms straddling the 164th Brigade’s line of advance.


None of this was known as the brigade’s four battalions left their assembly trenches at Congreve Walk and Liverpool Trench, close to Wieltje, to begin their march to the Black Line, more than a mile away. The mood was cheery. Even the 26-year-old CO of the 2/5th Lancashire Fusiliers, a man renowned for his fragile temper, seemed in good spirits. A school-teacher before the war, Lt-Col Bertram Best-Dunkley had a reputation as an arrogant, overbearing, self-seeking martinet. Yet as they waited to go over, 2/Lt Thomas Floyd saw him ‘walking along the line, his face lit up by smiles more pleasant than I have ever seen before’. They had the briefest of conversations. ‘Good morning, Floyd; best of luck,’ said the colonel, before passing on to greet his other officers. ‘Everybody’, observed Floyd, ‘was wishing everybody else good luck.’ The portents did indeed appear promising. A steady flow of German prisoners straggled back as they pushed on across ground strewn with bodies and wreckage towards the Steenbeek. There was little enemy fire, but once across the stream it mounted steadily.


The 2/5th Lancashire Fusiliers, the left leading battalion, was 200–300yd short of the Black Line when a hail of fire burst around them from strongpoints at Wine House, Spree Farm and Capricorn Support, supposed to have been captured along with the second objective, and from the enemy fortifications at Pond Farm and Hindu Cottage. Attempts to shake into extended order were unavailing as men went down and confusion reigned.


It was a shattering moment and provided the first test for Best-Dunkley. Until then, he had shown little sign of inspirational leadership. Now, he was a man transformed. Officers and NCOs displayed much gallantry in trying to rally the shaken remnants of companies and platoons, but none more so than Best-Dunkley. Minutes earlier, 2/Lt Floyd had seen him ‘complacently advancing, with a walking stick in his hand, as calmly as if he were walking across a parade ground’. Realising all the officers in C Company were dead or wounded, he ran forward, took command of the leading wave and led them through a storm of fire.


At great cost, small parties captured Wine House, Spree Farm (where Best-Dunkley set up his battalion HQ) and Capricorn Support. The 2/5th had lost half its strength and was in poor shape to launch its attack. According to the second-in-command, Major George Brighten, the battalion was ‘in a very weak and disorganised state’ and still under heavy fire. But there was no time to reorganise: delay would mean losing the barrage. ‘The advance’, wrote Brighten, ‘had to continue and quickly.’ By then, the 2/5th had all but merged with the 1/8th Liverpool Regiment. They went on in mixed, widely dispersed parties. 2/Lt Floyd was one of them:





We left St Julien close on our left. Suddenly we were rained with bullets from rifles and machine-guns. We extended. Men were being hit everywhere. My servant … was the first in my platoon to be hit. We lay down flat for a while, as it was impossible for anyone to survive standing up. Then I determined to go forward. It was no use sticking here for ever, and we would be wanted further on; so we might as well try and dash through it. ‘Come along – advance!’ I shouted, and leapt forward. I was just stepping over some barbed wire defences – I think it must have been in front of Schuler Farm – when the inevitable happened. I felt a sharp sting through my leg. I was hit by a bullet. So I dashed to the nearest shell-hole … My platoon seemed to have vanished just before I was hit. Whether they were in shell-holes or whether they had found some passage through the wire, I cannot say …’





Despite appalling losses, some parties reached their final objectives. Pond Farm and Hindu Cottage were captured and a few men managed to establish outposts along the Gravenstafel Spur. One of the deepest incursions saw Capt. J.R. Bodington take Wurst Farm with ten men. But they were too few to resist the enemy onslaught when it came in the early afternoon. Isolated platoons were steam-rollered and the dazed survivors streamed back via the Winnipeg Farm–Kansas Crossroads and Jew Hill, east of St Julien. What took hours to capture and would take several weeks more to regain was abandoned in less than 30 minutes. Of the 130 men of the 2/5th Lancashire Fusiliers and 1/8th Liverpools holding a strongpoint near Schuler Farm, barely a dozen came back. Orders to form a new line stretching from Hill 35 via Somme Farm to Border House were overtaken by the rapid advance.
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The Pilckem Ridge, scene of heavy fighting on the first day of the offensive


The panic and confusion, combined with heavy losses, threatened even the Black Line. Best-Dunkley’s HQ at Spree Farm was almost overrun before he realised what was happening. He and his staff beat a hasty retreat, but once more he refused to cave in. Having withdrawn a short distance, he gathered every man available, and led a sharp counter-attack, recapturing Spree Farm. Shortly afterwards, a heavy barrage brought the enemy attack to a standstill. Sporadic fighting continued into the evening, and around 8 pm, while still directing the defence of the Black Line, Best-Dunkley was mortally wounded – the last of eighteen casualties among the nineteen officers who had started out a little less than 12 hours earlier.


Evacuated to the main dressing station, the dying colonel was visited the next day by the Revd James Coop dso, the divisional chaplain. Best-Dunkley whispered that he hoped his general had not been disappointed with his battalion. When Coop relayed this to Maj.-Gen. Sir Hugh ‘Judy’ Jeudwine, the 55th Division’s GOC replied:





Disappointed! I should think not, indeed. I am more proud of having you and your battalion under my command than of anything that has ever happened to me. It was a magnificent fight, and your officers and men behaved splendidly, fighting with their heads as well as with the most superb pluck and determination.


The 31st July should for all time be remembered by your battalion and regiment and observed with more reverence even than Minden Day. It was no garden of roses you fought in. I have heard some of the stories of your battalion’s doings and they are glorious. And I have heard of your doings too, and the close shave you had.





[image: images]


T/Lt-Col B. Best-Dunkley


Bertram Best-Dunkley succumbed to his wounds on 5 August, two days after his 27th birthday. He was buried at Proven in a service attended by a number of senior officers and at which General Jeudwine was heard to remark: ‘We are burying one of Britain’s bravest soldiers.’


Smoother progress had been made to the Black Line by units on the right of the 164th Brigade front. 2/Lt C.H. Newbold, commanding No. 10 Platoon, C Company, the 1/4th King’s Own Royal Lancaster Regiment, reported suffering only one casualty despite passing through ‘a barrage of HE and shrapnel’. Following close behind the 1/4th Loyals, each platoon of the King’s Own had specially designated objectives. Newbold’s task was to mop up Somme Farm and the strongpoints between Hill 35 and Pond Farm. Morale among his men was high. According to L/Sgt Tom Mayson, a 23-year-old Cumbrian, the ‘boys’ were in ‘fine fettle’. Advancing with what one man described as ‘clockwork motion’, they reached the Black Line according to plan before running into heavy opposition. A tank, identified as F19, rumbled forward to their aid. It was almost immediately knocked out, but not before it had silenced a machine-gun barring their way. Newbold’s platoon, however, was still in trouble. Mayson recorded:





Another gun … opened fire from half-left, so I crawled to a flank for about 150 yards and got behind a mound and then found cover in a ditch. I approached to within 20 yards of the gun when I threw a bomb, putting the gun out of action and wounding 4 of the team. The remainder of the team bolted into a dugout near by. I went into the dugout after them, but found only 3 of them there, whom I slew with the bayonet. My platoon then came up and pushed on with me. For a time there was some mixed fighting in shell-holes. Then we came across some dugouts near the WIELTJE ROAD which we cleared, capturing 16 prisoners. Next we went across to POND FARM (which we were not supposed to touch, but there was no one else at hand) where we captured from 100 to 150 prisoners. We were literally surrounded by them, and not one of them resisted [Newbold’s own report described them as ‘poor specimens and very scared’ and noted that ‘very strangely most of them had haversacks on but no other equipment except gas masks’. In the meantime, the platoon for which we were mopping up had gone ahead. I then reconnoitred the SOMME, where I found the Brigade Forward Station. Finally, my platoon started to dig in near the WIELTJE ROAD …





Newbold’s platoon had been greatly assisted in clearing the dugouts by another tank, F16, directed by an unnamed officer ‘who walked in front although he was under heavy MG fire’. Having gained Pond Farm at around 11.15 am, Newbold formed a defensive position. By then, the platoon consisted of twelve men, including four stragglers from other units, with two Lewis guns. They resisted enemy counter-attacks until 4 pm, when, having run out of ammunition, they reluctantly withdrew to avoid being cut off. ‘If we had had more SAA and if the troops on the flanks had not gone back, we could have held out easily,’ Mayson later complained. Newbold brought his men, including the belligerent Mayson, into the Black Line:





My party immediately joined in the defence of the trenches. I found that the fire of the Lewis guns in the trench was masked by the line of outposts, so I took charge of half a dozen Lewis guns and put them in position on top of the dugouts behind the trench. From there they were able to bring very effective fire to bear on the Germans as they appeared on the ridge of Hill 35 …





According to Mayson, they ‘held the Black Line all night – at times under heavy shell fire – and at 11.30 am next morning received orders to withdraw to our original front line, which we did with the loss of one man wounded’. By midday only 150 men remained out of the 420 who had started the attack. Yet heavy as their losses were, they were less than those suffered by the 2/5th Lancashire Fusiliers. Out of a fighting strength of nineteen officers and 593 men, only one officer and 120 men reported for duty.


Few men better appreciated the sacrifices made by the ‘poor bloody infantry’ than the overstretched medical officers forced to contend with the flood of wounded pouring back from the front line. Throughout 31 July and in the days following, they worked unceasingly, recovering and treating the injured, despite the constant danger from enemy shelling. Theirs was a measured and selfless courage exemplified by Captain Noel Chavasse vc, mc, who over three days performed prodigious acts of heroism, recognised in the posthumous award of a Bar to his Victoria Cross won almost a year earlier on the Somme.


By the summer of 1917, this 32-year-old medical officer of the 10th Battalion, the King’s (Liverpool) Regiment, the Liverpool Scottish, had a reputation for unstinting devotion to duty. He had even declined offers of less dangerous appointments in order to stay with the regiment he had accompanied overseas in November 1914.
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